

## Enabling Housing Choice Project

Preliminary Research

Report #3: Housing & the Environment

April 2022



RA

#### LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The Enabling Housing Choice Project encompasses all of what we call Alberta, and is the traditional and ancestral territory of many peoples, presently subject to Treaties 6, 7, and 8 including the Blackfoot, Cree, Dene, Saulteaux, Nakota Sioux, Stoney Nakoda, and the Tsuu T'ina Nation and the Métis People of Alberta. We acknowledge the many First Nations, Métis and Inuit who have lived in and cared for these lands for generations. We are grateful for the traditional Knowledge Keepers and Elders who are still with us today and those who have gone before us. We make this acknowledgment as an act of reconciliation and gratitude to those whose territory we reside on and that which we refer to in this research.

RDN is committed to supporting the implementation of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada's Calls to Action, and believes in the need for meaningful engagement and consent with Indigenous peoples in the community. Colonialism is a current ongoing process, and we need to build our mindfulness of our present participation. As this project specifically touches on development and planning concepts which are built on a colonial system of governance and land use management, we also recognize that we have more work to unpack the systems in which we are upholding and working within.

#### **PROJECT ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Thank you to the Alberta Real Estate Foundation for their funding and support of this project. We would also like to express our appreciation for contributors to this project:

**Zachary Weeks**, Accessibility and Disability Consultant

**Tamara White**, Principal, Elevate Community Planning

Lenze Kuiper, Chief Administrative Officer, Oldman River Regional Services Commission Lisa Drury, Senior Planner, City of Beaumont Emily Sangster, Long Range Planner, City of Beaumont

Jason Syvixay, City of Edmonton, Principal Planner, Zoning Bylaw Renewal Strategist Global Village Centre in Brooks, AB Jacquie Fenske, Experience Alberta Eva John-Gladue, Operations Manager Natalie Gibson, Principal & Economic Development Expert, Innovisions & Associates

The Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo

And special thanks to our academic advisor: **Dr. Robert Summers**, Academic Director, University of Alberta Sustainability Council; Co-Chair, Environmental Studies Program, Department of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences.

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
PROJECT CONTEXT	4
OVERVIEW	6
SPRAWL AND THE ENVIRONMENT	7
Environmental Impacts	7
Linking Environmental and Social Impacts	8
Linking Environmental and Economic Impacts	10
MOVING TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY	11
Smart Growth	11
Transit Oriented Development	11
The 15-Minute Neighbourhood	12
Creating Service and Amenity Hubs	13
CASE STUDY	14
Medicine Hat: Central Hubs	14
NEXT STEPS	16
GET INVOLVED	17
REFERENCES	18



# **PROJECT CONTEXT**

The Enabling Housing Choice Project aims to provide insight on how Albertan municipalities can support growth in their communities and help provide more housing options and choices to their residents through local policy changes and capacity building strategies. In the first stage of our project, we conducted a literature review, subject matter expert interviews, and case studies. We have broken our findings into five main themes, in order to make the relevant information more easily accessible.

This report, Housing & The Environment, along with our other four themed reports, can be used by municipalities and communities to help better understand the complexities of housing choice and to help guide the development of sustainable housing strategies. It is important to note that all these themes intersect with each other. A holistic approach to enabling housing choice that considers all of these themes is required to make meaningful change that positively impacts various groups and their unique needs within a community. These preliminary findings will inform the next phases of our project, including the creation of our Guidebook for Enabling Housing Choice.

In this report, we will explore how development affects the built environment, and how the built environment affects people's everyday lives through:

- » The degradation of the natural environment through practices of sprawl in urban and rural areas;
- » The barriers and challenges to combat the prevalence of sprawl; and,
- » The strategies to mitigate the impacts of sprawl and the destruction of natural areas through land use efficiencies.



### **OVERVIEW**

Housing is intimately linked to the environment. Where people live affects their wellbeing, and society relies on the natural environment to provide food and sustenance. However, housing also impacts the environment with the development and destruction of land, vehicle emissions and pollution, and its carbon footprint (Kingsella, 2019).

THE NEXUS BETWEEN THE RESIDENTIAL SECTOR AND ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY IS RECIPROCAL AND COMPLEX. THE RESIDENTIAL SECTOR GENERATES ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS VIA LAND AND MATERIALS USE, ENERGY CONSUMPTION, AND THE TRANSPORTATION ACTIVITY IT ENGENDERS" (OECD, N.D., PARA. 1).

Poor planning can lead to inefficiencies in land use and services which negatively impacts peoples' quality of life and the natural environment. Communities must be strategic about where they encourage development and take into account the location, surrounding infrastructure, and the unique characteristics of their area.

One major challenge in effectively managing environmental concerns is the cultural barriers to sustainable land use and development. This is prevalent in Alberta because its zoning is prescriptive, being firmly established after World War II (City of Edmonton, 2021). In the 1980s, most regional planning commissions were set aside (Taylor, 2014), and the government started to open up development. This correlated to the desire for single-detached houses, which in turn created strict zoning that greatly segregated different land uses (i.e. low density residential, high density residential, commercial). Low density residential developments on the edges of a community reflect lifestyle trends that are often referred to as urban and rural sprawl.

Sprawl is the "uncontrolled expansion of urban development characterized by low density, degraded land use and insufficient infrastructure provision" (Cheung, 2014, p. 35). Sprawl contributes heavily to the degradation of the natural environment. This report explores the prevalence of sprawl and the barriers and challenges to combating it and then delves into some concepts that work to intensify developed areas and create more housing options to limit the further destruction of natural spaces. However, any development may impede and degrade traditional Indigenous lands. There is a dichotomy when considering development, growth, and planning frameworks while also respecting Indigenous lands and reconciliation. For a more in-depth discussion on how the Enabling Housing Choice Project interacts with reconciliation, please refer to our reconciliation paper.

#### SPRAWL AND THE ENVIRONMENT

Sprawl has a major environmental impact and contributes to climate change. While some segregation of land uses can be important, like not having housing next to an industrial refinery, sprawl is a symptom of inefficient segregation of land uses. In this section, the environmental impacts of sprawl and how the social and economic impacts add further complexity to environmental concerns are explored. As shown in the graphic below, the concept of sprawl sees the concentration of development in a central area shown in dark orange, with more road infrastructure needed to service the low density areas in blue. In a typical sprawled community, the downtown or core area may have more services and amenities, but the residents living on the edge of town are too far away to access them easily. This adds pressure to develop more roadways to increase connectivity, developing more natural areas into impervious pavement.



#### **ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS**

Sprawl contributes to climate change through the destruction of wetlands, loss of tree canopy covers, and increased pollution (Dunn, 2010). Low density development uses more energy than higher density development (Gurin, 2003). The further sprawled development is from the serviced core area, the more reliance there is on private automobiles, the more roads and amenities need to be expanded and serviced. This type of sprawl consumes large quantities of land, segregates commercial uses and amenities from residential land uses, and creates a dependency on automobiles.

The reliant use of automobiles has lasting negative effects on the environment as the "consumption of fossil fuels is the largest contributor to CO2 emissions" (Wilson & Chakraborty, 2013, p. 8). In Alberta, the transportation sector contributes to approximately 12% of Alberta's Greenhouse Gas (GHGs) emissions, which is the third largest contributor after oil and gas, and electricity (Government of Alberta, 2022). 79% of all vehicles in Alberta are gasoline burning engines, 11% use diesel, and alternative fuels use up less than 1% of all of Alberta's registered vehicles (Government of Alberta, 2022).

Additionally, with large amounts of land consumed for low density housing, sprawl contributes to the Urban Heat Island effect (UHI). The UHI effect occurs when "cities replace natural land cover with dense concentrations of pavement, buildings, and other surfaces that absorb and retain heat" (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2022).

Although UHI can be experienced in rural or urban areas, the effect is more extensive in urban areas because there is more developed land. Smaller and rural communities are still affected by this phenomenon as

#### UHI NEGATIVELY IMPACTS NOT ONLY RESIDENTS OF URBAN-RELATED ENVIRONS, BUT ALSO HUMANS AND THEIR ASSOCIATED ECOSYSTEMS LOCATED FAR AWAY FROM CITIES" (URBAN HEAT ISLANDS, 2021).

UHI is a factor of climate change, and climate change affects all communities, whether rural or urban. A study in Toronto explored the UHI effect across their different neighbourhoods where satellite thermal images concluded: "suburban areas experience higher thermal admittance properties" (Wang et al., 2016, p. 6). A few of the main factors contributing to UHI are large surfaces of materials (mainly asphalt and concrete), the concentration of heat-generating activities released from fuel combustion (including cars), and reduced vegetation (Wang et al., 2016). These are all common attributes of sprawled neighbourhoods and can be applied to many of the sprawling communities across Alberta. With the increasing effect of air pollution and the UHI effect, sprawl directly contributes to climate change (Chakraborty & Wilson, 2013).

#### LINKING ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL IMPACTS

The location of housing has varying effects on a resident's quality of life and social wellbeing. Affordable or multi-unit housing, in particular, is often condensed in neighbourhoods experiencing economic decline, creating ghettos (Aurand, 2007). Historically, these areas were in the inner city suburbs, and high-income families would move out of the inner city to live in newer suburbs in the outer city ring, contributing to

urban sprawl (Aurand, 2007). While there are often amenities to support the multi-unit family homes in the inner city and downtown areas, this creates segregation of people and concentrates poverty.

Because there is a distinct separation of land use in sprawled suburbs – where residential uses are typically isolated - amenities are not clustered together and people who live in higher densities must still use automobile transportation or transit (if available). If there is no thought given to the location of higher density zoning, this can be seen as disjointed development. For example, putting an apartment building within a neighbourhood with only residential uses surrounding it means its residents lose the ability to walk to a grocery store and may have to resort to the use of automobiles. If residents cannot reap the benefits of using active transportation, adding high densities in sprawled areas does not only put residents at a disadvantage, but does not help in bettering the natural environment. There are positive and negative outcomes for both locating density in the core area and in the suburbs that must be considered when rezoning for and encouraging higher density housing. Promoting a diversity of housing in communities is only beneficial when it is done thoughtfully and considers the people and the environment.

Additionally, sprawl makes it difficult to set the boundaries between urban and rural areas, leading to the loss of green space and agricultural land. Access to green space and the natural environment is essential for the health and wellbeing of residents (Government of Canada, 2022). Natural spaces can help reduce noise in urban areas, provide shade and cooling, and reduce environmental impacts such as flooding and air pollution. The quality and quantity of natural spaces may be limited in sprawled neighbourhoods because of the destruction of the natural environment for the sake of housing development.

Sprawl development often encroaches on prime agricultural land, like in the image below. Agricultural land has innate value to support local food production, as well as in combating climate change if sustainable farming practices like low-tilling and planting cover crops (Riensche & Jakhar, 2019). Through the annexation of land and sprawling neighbourhood development, the prime agricultural land that is left becomes even more rare and expensive which creates problems relating to food insecurity (Szabo, 2015). Farmers often "sell their land for non-agricultural uses" (Szabo, 2015) because the financial incentive to sell to a developer is more lucrative than remaining on the land. When agricultural land is expensive, farmers cannot sustain their livelihoods and provide high-quality products for their local market. This pushes farmers further away from the markets they could serve and encourages monoculture crops to maximize profits. This cycle of sprawl and loss of agricultural land cuts off access to a diversity of healthy food options which has negative social impacts particularly on lower income families (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2019).

#### LINKING ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACTS

Low-density neighbourhoods consume more land per person than high-density neighbourhoods, which means more infrastructure and services per capita are required to support residents (Gurin, 2003). In addition, focusing on new community development to meet housing demand requires the additional investment in more infrastructure to support these areas. This leads to increased expenses for municipalities to provide services like sewer, roads, police, and snow removal for all their residents. In turn, this can lead to an increase in property taxes for homeowners and businesses.

While the cost of sprawl is high for a municipality, it can be challenging to weigh this factor properly when making development and land use decisions. When development proposals are made, councils have many different influences like cultural and social considerations. Even though the cultural and social aspects sometimes prevent development from occurring, a tool to convince the councils otherwise is to explain the economics of the development. For example, a council may be encouraged to approve higher density development applications if they can see that these types of developments could help to lower property taxes.



An example of rural development is seen encroaching on agricultural land. (Sawe, 2019).

### **MOVING TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY**

While each community, population and geographical size are unique, there are many principles of thoughtful strategies that can help municipalities achieve more sustainable development. This section explores some of the concepts municipalities can use to encourage sustainable and environmentally responsible development. These concepts share some similarities, but also include clear distinctions which may resonate more with the community.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT IS ABOUT IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF LIFE IN A LOCALITY, INCLUDING ECOLOGICAL, CULTURAL, POLITICAL, INSTITUTIONAL, SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC COMPONENTS WITHOUT LEAVING ANY BURDEN—E.G., THE RESULT OF A REDUCED NATURAL CAPITAL AND AN EXCESSIVE LOCAL DEBT—ON FUTURE GENERATIONS." (MULTIDISCIPLINARY DIGITAL PUBLISHING INSTITUTE, 2022)

#### **SMART GROWTH**

Municipalities should evaluate how they want to grow more sustainably. Smart growth principles promote the efficient use of land, improving social, environmental, and economic outcomes. The priority of smart growth is to increase residential density and transit use (Filion & McSpurren, 2007). When people live in higher densities and use more transit, the municipality is more efficient and leaves less of an ecological footprint. Municipalities can utilize smart growth concepts by implementing land use policies prioritizing certain development permits to achieve their goals and to give more agency to landowners. This could be done through fast-tracking development approvals that encourage activities like infill and intensification in existing neighbourhoods. They can also provide financial incentives like subsidizing different forms of housing (Sewell et al., 2003).

#### TRANSIT ORIENTED DEVELOPMENT

Transit Oriented Development (TOD) is a concept that concentrates development and housing around transit services (Ibraeva et al., 2020). Many municipalities use TOD principles with successful outcomes, but they must be strategic about where density is encouraged to maximize services and amenities. Allowing higher densities where there are more services (including transit) will enable more people to live car-free. If more diverse and dense forms of housing are planned like this, it also provides better access to grocery stores, schools, and other services for low-income families (Mueller et al., 2018).

Although TOD has had many successful results, the outcomes from community to community are diverse, and locale should always be noted. Successful TOD relies on a variety of factors such as "the socio-economic level of a neighbourhood, habits and long-established preferences of residents, and regional accessibility conditions" (Ibraeva et al., 2020, p. 111). TOD also tends to be urban-focused, as transit is often underdeveloped or nonexistent in smaller and more rural areas. However, the principles of encouraging density near areas of the highest amenities and service levels can be applied to any size of municipality.

#### THE 15-MINUTE NEIGHBOURHOOD

The clustering of development can be seen in the concept of 15-minute neighbourhoods. The 15-minute neighbourhood is a concept that prioritizes walkability and proximity to amenities. Often referred to as "complete neighbourhoods," the idea is that residents can get all their basic needs within a 15-minute walk of their home (Herriges, 2019). It is important to note, however, that there is ableism embedded in this concept, as people walk differently and many cannot walk at all. As shown in the image below, amenities and businesses are clustered together, which creates a reciprocal relationship with the nearby residents. As businesses rely on local sales, residents can patronize places conveniently located close to home.



These types of neighbourhoods can be dispersed around a town or city, and more than one 15-minute neighbourhood can exist in a community. With the addition of density, many 15-minute neighbourhoods have 'Third Places,' which are community gathering spaces for people to enjoy the public realm (Herriges, 2019).

#### A THIRD PLACE IS A COMMUNITY GATHERING SPACE WHERE YOU CAN MEET A FRIEND, KILL SOME TIME, OR HAVE A SERENDIPITOUS ENCOUNTER WITH A NEIGHBOR. IT CAN BE A PRIVATE BUSINESS, PUBLIC PARK OR PLAZA, OR A CIVIC SPACE LIKE A PUBLIC LIBRARY. EVERY 15-MINUTE NEIGHBORHOOD NEEDS A GOOD THIRD PLACE OR TEN" (HERRIGES, 2019).

The attributes of 15-minute neighbourhoods encourage walkability for vibrancy in the neighbourhood. By concentrating businesses, housing, amenities, and public spaces in one area, 15-minute neighbourhoods mix different land uses to create centralized hubs, often called "nodes." These nodes create a space where residents can live and have all their needs met, without the use of private automobiles. This concept strategically places densities in areas that would provide residents with the benefits of mixed housing types.

#### **CREATING SERVICE AND AMENITY HUBS**

The area of smaller municipalities may already enable all local services and amenities to be walkable. As well, Transit Oriented Development can also be a challenge in small communities as some areas have a lack of transit centres or none at all. In these cases, communities cannot cluster their development around transit services. However, they can still cluster commercial areas and amenities into nodes that would benefit the community, especially if higher density residential housing is also assembled there.

By clustering amenities and higher density housing, smaller communities can create service hubs that can enhance the communities' vibrancy. The impact of clustering services can also make more sustainable towns by concentrating development and using less green space. Clustering amenities and housing can provide for a more sustainable lifestyle and can enhance the charm of small towns as it enriches the development and use of Main Streets or downtowns. Great examples of this in Alberta are the mountain towns of Canmore, Jasper, and Banff- shown below.





### **CASE STUDY**

Many communities have trouble making policies to reduce their environmental impact and provide adequate services and amenities for their sprawling neighbourhoods. To demonstrate a strategy in action to tackle this problem, we are highlighting the City of Medicine Hat. Their new Municipal Development Plan focuses on creating service and amenity hubs across their city while reducing their environmental impact and growing their urban forest (City of Medicine Hat, 2020).

#### **MEDICINE HAT: CENTRAL HUBS**

The City of Medicine Hat is a medium-sized city with a population of over 65,000 (Government of Alberta, 2021). The city is located in southeast Alberta along the South Saskatchewan River, surrounded by open fields. Because Medicine Hat does not have any geographical constraints, sprawl development was common. Over time, however, it became clear to the municipality that servicing the developments on the edges of the city was getting expensive and that it was not feasible to provide these communities with the same level of service as other established communities.. They also wanted to reconcile the impact that sprawl has had on the natural environment, and worked to include new provisions into their new Municipal Development Plan (MDP). The four major environmental priorities from their new MDP include:

- 1. The sensitive areas of their prairie landscape should be conserved and managed;
- 2. Water management practices reflecting their semi-arid desert climate and their constrained watershed should be implemented;
- 3. Reduce the overall environmental impact of their city; and
- 4. Expand and maintain the city's urban forest in all viable public spaces (City of Medicine Hat, 2020, p. 52).

When creating and adopting their new MDP, the myMH Master Plan, the planners put more emphasis on understanding the context of their city. They were interested in planning concepts like 15-minute neighbourhoods and applied the same principles from this concept to centralize their services and densify the core area while also creating three urban villages (City of Medicine Hat, 2020).

As shown in the mapping on page 15, these urban villages highlight areas that the city hopes to intensify development in. These urban villages are strategically located along major transportation corridors with provisions to develop underutilized spaces like surface parking lots.

Additionally, to connect these urban villages together, the myMH Master Plan aims to make meaningful links between them on already developed roadways "to support higher density development" (City of Medicine Hat, 2020, p. 68).



Urban Intensification Areas depicting urban villages in pink (City of Medicine Hat, 2020).

These efforts will help the City of Medicine Hat achieve their goal to be champions of environmental stewardship. This is supported by encouraging density in their core areas by incentivizing infill and making the core the most service rich. While they do not inhibit residents and developers from building what they want on the outskirts of town, they do so knowing that there would not be a lot of amenities nearby. This urban transect image below from the myMH Master Plan demonstrates the urban form as well as the servicing and amenity levels that residents can expect based on where they choose to live.

It is important to note that although this plan was recently adopted, there are already many positive changes being seen through this plan, such as Medicine Hat's incentive grants which includes the Infill Incentive. The Infill Incentive encourages developers to construct and develop infill properties through a combined maximum of \$25,000 grant for each project (City of Medicine Hat, 2022). Although there have been changes, the full impact of the plan will not be seen for some time.



### **NEXT STEPS**

Municipalities must use land more efficiently to combat climate change and to support the environment. Sprawl is no longer viable to create sustainable communities. Implementing sustainable growth strategies within municipal policies is essential in combating the environmental concerns that occur with sprawl. Social and economic considerations can also be developed in conjunction with environmental concerns to better the entire system of land use. Being able to strategically develop density in targeted areas will create a more sustainable and healthy lifestyle for residents. Through the different ways of being more efficient with land uses by Transit Oriented Development, 15-minute neighbourhoods, or the clustering of amenities, municipalities must look at their locale and determine what strategies work best for them.

To promote land use efficiencies, municipalities must make density one of its goals. This could mean developing community engagement plans to encourage residents to accept and embrace higher densities. This could also mean creating the incentives needed to encourage developers to invest in infill and higher densities like the City of Medicine had promoted. Municipalities must think about smart growth principles to effectively implement density so that residents and the municipalities themselves can live a more sustainable lifestyle. Note that higher densities do not always mean large high rises, but could mean duplex housing or row housing. Looking at the context of a neighbourhood's characteristics is also essential in implementing density because density should be established where residents can reap the benefits.

The clustering of amenities and services is important in aiding in land use efficiencies, whether it is through Transit Oriented Development, 15-minute neighbourhoods, or the mere clustering of amenities. Letting market forces cluster themselves is not enough to promote land use efficiency. Municipalities must advocate for land use efficiency by planning where commercial, retail, and services should be located and create hubs of nodes. This can be done in the Area Structure Plans or Neighbourhoods Structure Plans, but they must be implemented in regulation and policy. If municipalities are committed to creating a smaller ecological footprint, it should be shown in their legal documents and plans.

----

### **GET INVOLVED**

---

Our Sustainable Housing Initiative (SHI) Enabling Housing Choice Project team is working to support communities across Alberta to create innovative and transformative local policies that promote housing diversity, access and choice. If you are interested in learning more about the project, current partnership opportunities, and research, please get in touch by contacting us here at **housingchoice@ruraldevelopment.ca** or by visiting our **webpage**.

#### REFERENCES

- Agrawal, S. (2016, May). Urban, Suburban, Regional and Wet Growth in Alberta. [PDF]. University of Alberta. https://cms.eas.ualberta.ca/UrbanEnvOb/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2018/01/ Urban-Suburban-Smart-and-Wet-Growth-in-Alberta.pdf
- Alberta Native News. (2014). Treaty 6 Recognition Day Proclaimed In Edmonton. https://www. albertanativenews.com/treaty-6-recognition-day-proclaimed-in-edmonton/
- Aurand, A. (2007). The impact of regional government structure on the concentration and supply of affordable housing. Housing Policy Debate, 18(2), 393–430. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511 482.2007.9521605
- Canada Energy Regulator. (2022). Provincial and Territorial Energy Profiles Alberta. https:// www.cer-rec.gc.ca/en/data-analysis/energy-markets/provincial-territorial-energy-profiles/ provincial-territorial-energy-profiles-alberta.html#:~:text=%2Fd%2C%20respectively.-,Electricity,more%20than%20the%20national%20average.
- Chamberlain, L. (2022). The surprising stickiness of the "15-minute city." https://www.weforum. org/agenda/2022/03/15-minute-city-stickiness/
- Cheung, C. (2014). Deconstructing Canada's Housing Markets: Finance, affordability and urban sprawl. OECD Economic Surveys: Canada 2014, 57–97. https://doi. org/10.1787/5jz0zbg20h34-en
- City of Edmonton. (2021). History of Zoning in Edmonton. Zoning Bylaw Renewal Report. Report 1. [PDF] https://www.edmonton.ca/public-files/assets/document?path=PDF/ HistoryofZoninginEdmonton.pdf
- City of Edmonton. (2022). (AN) River Valley Activity Node zone. Edmonton Zoning Bylaw 12800. https://webdocs.edmonton.ca/infraplan/zoningbylaw/ZoningBylaw/Part2/Urban/541\_(AN)\_ River\_Valley\_Activity\_Node\_Zone.htm
- City of Medicine Hat. (2020). myMH Master Plan. https://shapeyourcity.medicinehat.ca/ municipal-development-plan
- Daley, A., Brotman, S., MacDonnell, J. A., & St. Pierre, M. (2020). A Framework for Enhancing Access to Equitable Home Care for 2SLGBTQ+ Communities. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(20), 7533. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph17207533
- Distinctive Homes. (2022). Ditch the City for the Canmore Mountain Lifestyle. https:// distinctivehomescanmore.com/move-to-canmore-the-mountains-are-calling/
- Dunn, C. (2010, April 30). The environmental impacts of urban sprawl. Greener Ideal. https:// greenerideal.com/news/6989-urban-sprawl/
- Explore Edmonton. (2022). North Saskatchewan River Valley. https://exploreedmonton.com/ attractions-and-experiences/north-saskatchewan-river-valley
- Filion, P., & McSpurren, K. (2007). Smart growth and development reality: The difficult coordination of land use and transport objectives. Urban Studies, 44(3), 501–523. https://doi. org/10.1080/00420980601176055
- Government of Alberta. (2022). Climate change and transportation. https://www.alberta.ca/ climate-change-and-transportation.aspx
- Government of Alberta. (2021). Medicine Hat Population. https://regionaldashboard.alberta. ca/region/medicine-hat/population/#/
- Government of Canada. (2022). Commentary Climate change, health and green space cobenefits. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/healthpromotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-39-no-4-2019/ climate-change-health-green-space-co-benefits.html
- Gurin, D. (2003). Understanding Sprawl: A Citizen's Guide. [PDF] http://www.urbancentre. utoronto.ca/pdfs/elibrary/Suzuki.pdf
- Herriges, D. (2019). 7 Rules for Creating "15-Minute Neighborhoods." Strong Towns. https:// www.strongtowns.org/journal/2019/9/6/7-rules-for-creating-15-minute-neighborhoods
- Ibraeva, A., Correia, G. H., Silva, C., & Antunes, A. P. (2020). Transit-oriented development: A review of research achievements and challenges. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 132, 110–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2019.10.018

- IDEA. (2022). So, What are some of the Benefits of Infill? https://www.infilledmonton.com/ benefits-to-infill
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2019). Food Insecurity. Climate Change and Land. 437-550. [PDF] https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/4/2021/02/08\_Chapter-5\_3.pdf
- Kingsella, M. (2019, March 15). Housing is the environmental issue of our time. Up for Growth. https://www.upforgrowth.org/news/housing-environmental-issue-our-time
- Mercer-Blackman, Valerie. (2018). Urbanization and Labor Productivity in Indonesia. https:// www.researchgate.net/figure/Urban-Sprawl-in-Megacities-An-Example-of-the-Negative-Externality-of-Urbanization-and\_fig3\_325284245
- Morton, M., Dworsky, A., Patel, S., & Samuels, G. (2018). LGBTQ Young Adults Experience Homelessness at More than Twice the Rate of Peers. https://www.chapinhall.org/research/ lgbtq-young-adults-experience-homelessness-at-more-than-twice-the-rate-of-peers/
- Mueller, E. J., Hilde, T. W., & Torrado, M. J. (2018). Methods for countering spatial inequality: Incorporating strategic opportunities for housing preservation into transit-oriented development planning. Landscape and Urban Planning, 177, 317–327. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.01.003
- Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. (2022). Sustainable Urban and Rural Development. https://www.mdpi.com/journal/sustainability/sections/urban\_and\_rural\_ development#:~:text=Sustainable%20urban%20and%20rural%20development%20is%20 about%20improving,capital%20and%20an%20excessive%20local%20debt%E2%80%-94on%20future%20generations
- OECD. (n.d.) Reconciling housing and the environment.
- https://www.oecd.org/housing/policy-toolkit/data-dashboard/housing-environment/
- Riensche, B., Jakhar, A.V. (2019, September 20). Here's how we can use agriculture to fight climate change. World Economic Forum. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/09/here-show-we-can-use-agriculture-to-fight-climate-change/
- Sawe, B.E. (2019, August 7). What is urban sprawl? [Image]. https://www.worldatlas.com/articles/ what-is-urban-sprawl.html
- Serjeant, H. (2012). Downtown Banff. http://helensroundtheworldtravels.blogspot.com/2012/07/ banff-and-canmore.html
- Sewell, J., de Jong, F., Fenton, B., & Hornell, M. (2003). Breaking the Suburban Habit. Alternatives Journal. 29(3), 22-29. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A108007281/ AONE?u=anon~c137db7a&sid=googleScholar&xid=6e48dcae
- Szabo, S. (2015). Urbanisation and food insecurity risks: Assessing the role of human development. Oxford Development Studies, 44(1), 28–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600818. 2015.1067292
- Taylor, Z. (2014). Alberta cities at the Crossroads: Urban Development Challenges and opportunities in historical and comparative perspective. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2474377
- Tomalty, R. & Alexander, D. (2005). Smart Growth in Canada: Implementation of A Planning Concept. [PDF] https://viurrspace.ca/bitstream/handle/10613/2985/Alexander.CMHC. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2022). Reduce Urban Heat Island Effect. Green Infrastructure. https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/reduce-urban-heat-island-effect
- Urban Heat Islands. (2021). The Urban Heat Island (UHI) Effect. https://www.urbanheatislands. com/
- Walks, R. A., & Maaranen, R. (2008). Gentrification, social mix, and social polarization: Testing the linkages in large Canadian cities. Urban Geography, 29(4), 293–326. https://doi.org/10.2747/0272-3638.29.4.293
- Wang, Y., Berardi, U., & Akbari, H. (2016). Comparing the effects of Urban Heat Island Mitigation Strategies for Toronto, Canada. Energy and Buildings, 114, 2–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enbuild.2015.06.046
- Wilson, B., & Chakraborty, A. (2013). The environmental impacts of sprawl: Emergent themes from the past decade of planning research. Sustainability, 5(8), 3302–3327. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5083302





Email: housingchoice@ruraldevelopment.ca Website: https://www.housingredefined.ca/enabling-housing-choice-project